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DECISION 

Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Glynda B. Gomez, Office of Administrative 

Hearings (OAH), heard the above-captioned matter in Moreno Valley, California on April 

18, 2011 and April 19, 2011. 

The Moreno Valley Unified School District (District) was represented by Maria 

Gless, Attorney at Law. Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) Interim Director 

Steven Morford, Ed.d, was also in attendance for District. There was no appearance by 

Student, her parent, or any representative on her behalf. 

District filed a request for due process hearing naming Parent on behalf of 

Student as respondent on February 2, 2011. A request for continuance was granted on 

February 24, 2011 for good cause. At the request of District's counsel, at the close of 

hearing the record remained open until May 3, 2011 for the submission of closing briefs. 

District's closing brief was timely filed. Student did not file a closing brief. 

ISSUES 

1. Whether the District’s offer of placement and services for Extended School 

Year (ESY) 2010 and the 2010-2011 school year as contained in the April 19, 2010, April 

Accessibility modified document



 2 

26, 2010, August 17, 2010, September 1, 2010, September 16, 2010, and November 1, 

2010 Individual Education Programs (IEPs) constituted an offer of a free, appropriate 

public education (FAPE). 

2. Whether Mother must make Student available for the occupational 

therapy (OT) assessment to which Mother had consented. 

FACTUAL FINDINGS 

1. Student is a 21-year-old conserved young woman eligible for special 

education as a student with autism. She also has a medical diagnosis of asthma.  

2. Student first entered the District in 2006. At that time, Student was 

attending a non-public school (NPS). Student attended an NPS until April 2008 when 

she was placed on home/hospital instruction pursuant to an order from her physician 

based upon complications from her asthma. 

3. The District assessment team prepared a comprehensive triennial 

assessment report dated January 26, 2009. As part of the triennial assessment, program 

specialist Linda Munson (Munson) conducted an academic assessment of Student on 

December 19, 2008. Munson, an experienced special education teacher, used the 

Brigance Diagnostic Comprehensive Inventory of Basic Skills (Brigance) to assess 

Student. At that time, Student performed at the second grade level in reading 

comprehension, the sixth grade level in word recognition, and at the third grade level in 

computational skills. Munson opined that Student needed continued opportunities to 

practice her reading skills with a focus on reading comprehension. She also opined that 

functional academics in the areas of reading and math needed to be linked to 

independent living skills.   

4. In January of 2009, school psychologist Brian Rice (Rice) assessed Student 

using the Cognitive Assessment System (CAS), the Wide Range Assessment of Memory 

and Learning-Second Edition (WRAML-2), the Bender-Gestault II, unspecified adaptive 
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function behavior rating scales and interviews with Mother and Student. Student 

received a standard score of 52 within the cognitively delayed range on the CAS. 

Student performed in the average range on the portion of the Bender Gestault-II which 

required her to copy geometric shapes. However, she was unable to reproduce any of 

the shapes from memory and therefore received a standard score of 67 within the very 

delayed range on the Bender Gestault-II. Student received a standard score of 56 on the 

WRAML-2 within the significantly delayed range. Based upon the interviews, 

observations and the rating scale responses from Mother, Rice opined that Student's 

adaptive skills were within the very delayed range consistent with her cognitive ability 

and diagnosis of autism.  

5. On December 16, 2008, Nancy Penn (Penn) conducted an academic 

assessment of Student. Penn, a program specialist and experienced special education 

teacher holds a life multiple subject teaching credentials, a life severely handicapped 

specialist credential, a life learning handicapped specialist credential, a resource 

specialist certificate of competence and a cross cultural language and academic 

development (CLAD) certification. To ascertain Student's level of academic achievement, 

Penn administered the Woodcock Johnson III Tests of Achievement (WJIII). Student 

received a standard score of 56 within the significantly delayed range. Student received 

standard scores of 52 in broad written language, 36 in broad math and 38 in broad 

language, all within the very delayed range.  

6. Licensed speech and language pathologist Lisa Bradshaw (Bradshaw) of 

SenseAbilities LLC (SenseAbilities), a non-public agency (NPA) conducted an assessment 

of Student's speech and language abilities in December of 2008. Bradshaw used the 

Clinical Evaluation of Language Fundamentals-4 (CELF-4), Receptive One Word Picture 

Vocabulary Test, Goldman-Fristoe Test of Articulation-2 and conducted an Oral-

Peripheral Examination. Bradshaw opined that Student had severe expressive and 
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receptive language deficits consistent with her diagnosis of autism. Bradshaw opined 

that Student had poor grammar, syntax and expressive vocabulary. Bradshaw noted that 

Student displayed muscle weakness and poor coordination. She recommended 

continued speech and language therapy and use of a voice-output communication 

device.  

7. Licensed occupational therapist (OT) Suzanne Linett (Linett) conducted an 

assessment of Student on December 30, 2008. Linett received her bachelor of science 

degree in OT from the University of Southern California in 1977. Linett has 35 years of 

experience as an OT. To assess Student's OT needs, Linett reviewed Student's records, 

conducted clinical observations, and administered the Test of Handwriting Skills. Linett 

observed Student performing specific fine motor tasks and interviewed Mother about 

Student's needs. Mother also completed a 125-question sensory profile questionnaire. 

Linett opined that Student's fine motor skills were within functional limits. She also 

opined that Student had significant difficulties with sensory modulation and regulation 

of responses to her sensory environment. Linett recommended that Student be given a 

visual schedule, placed in a program with structure and routine, be given movement 

breaks and the opportunity to use sensory regulating activities to calm herself and 

refocus.  

8. On January 23, 2009, District adaptive physical education (APE) teacher 

Kevin Bromley (Bromley) conducted an assessment of Student. The assessment was 

conducted in Student's backyard. Bromley's assessment consisted of observation of 

Student performing various gross motor and locomotor tasks. Using a checklist, Bromley 

evaluated Student's locomotor, gross motor and balance skills. Bromley did not use a 

formal assessment tool because there were few formal tools available for Student's age 

range and none of the available tools were appropriate for Student. Bromley opined 

that Student's overall skills were good. He noted that she participated in community 
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recreation programs and workout programs at home. Bromley recommended that 

Student be encouraged to continue with lifetime fitness and recreation skills to maintain 

and improve her physical fitness. Bromley did not recommend APE goals or services. 

9. Pursuant to her July 7, 2009 IEP, Student was placed on home/hospital 

status with seven hours per week of individual instruction, one hour per week of speech 

and language therapy delivered in the home and one hour per week of training of 

Student and staff on the Vantage Lite voice output communication device (Vantage 

Lite). Mother consented to the July 7, 2009 IEP at a meeting on September 16, 2009. 

10. Student's annual IEP meeting was held on April 19, 2010. Mother, Student, 

Inland Regional Center (IRC) representative Janelle McDuffie, Administrator Jeff Frazier, 

home/hospital general education teacher Elsie La Salle (La Salle), program specialist 

Penn, special education teacher Tamra DeBeaubien (DeBeaubien) , NPA speech and 

language pathologist Bradshaw, School Nurse Cindy Hebard (Hebard), March Mountain 

High School principal Laura Strachan (Strachan), SELPA speech and language 

pathologist Ms. Carl, and autism program specialist Kathleen Yugo (Yugo) attended the 

April 19, 2010 IEP meeting. At the meeting, the IEP team presented Mother with a health 

care plan prepared by the school nurse detailing Student's medications and medical 

precautions and protocols. Mother advised that she would have the physician review the 

health care plan. The IEP team agreed that the school nurse would also contact the 

physician to discuss the health care plan and invite him to participate in the IEP 

meetings.  

11. The IEP team reviewed Student's progress on the eight goals from her July 

7, 2009 IEP. Student made progress on goals in the areas of social/emotional and self-

help. Student met the remaining goals in vocational, reading, written language, math, 

semantics, and syntax. The IEP team discussed Student's present levels of performance 

(PLOPs). The IEP team determined that Student had needs in the areas of 
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social/emotional, self-help, vocational, reading, written language, math, semantics, 

syntax, answering questions, and retelling sequences and developed a goal for each 

area of need. At this meeting, the IEP team offer of FAPE was seven hours of individual 

instruction per week while on home/hospital instruction and one hour per week of 

direct speech and language therapy until June 10, 2010, when the home hospital order 

expired. The IEP also provided for an additional hour per week of speech and language 

therapy focused on the use of the Vantage Lite. One hour per month (two 30-minute 

sessions) of the Vantage Lite speech and language therapy was to be used for staff 

training.  

12. For ESY 2010, the IEP team offered Student: 180 minutes of intensive 

instruction in the March Mountain High School Action program (Action) with a one-to-

one aide each day; speech and language therapy once per week direct service for one 

hour focusing on speech and language; and one hour per week of speech and language 

therapist services focusing on the Vantage Lite. Within these services, one hour per 

month was to be used for staff training and collaboration with regard to the Vantage 

Lite. The IEP team also offered career awareness service one time per month for 30 

minutes and job coaching twice a month for 30 minutes per session.  

13. For fall 2010, Student was offered the same program and services as 

during ESY, plus agency coordination with regional center once per year for 60 minutes, 

and travel training once per month for 30 minutes.  

14. The Action program is a functional skills and sheltered work program for 

young adult special education students. The three-hour morning program for Student 

would consist of functional academic skills instruction and participation in a simulated 

work environment under the direction of a special education teacher, instructional aides, 

and Student’s one-to-one aide.  
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15. Special education teacher Tamra DeBeaubien (DeBeaubien) teaches the 

Action class with the assistance of two instructional aides. DeBeaubien has eight years of 

experience as a special education teacher. She received her bachelor of arts in liberal 

studies from California State University San Bernardino in 2002 and has a mild to 

moderate special education credential. Stacie Lloyd (Lloyd) was selected to be Student's 

one-to-one aide. Lloyd had one year of experience working as an aide to a student with 

cerebral palsy and is the parent of a disabled child. Lloyd received training at Riverside 

Community College and from District autism specialist Yugo and DeBeaubien. Lloyd 

attended Vantage Lite trainings and monthly collaboration meetings to prepare for 

Student's return to school. 

16. The IEP included a transition plan for Student's return to school. The 

transition plan included the following: (1) Student will have a one-to-one instructional 

assistant; (2) Student will start ESY with a shortened three hour day to be increased as 

tolerated by Student and as deemed appropriate by IEP team; (3) Program specialist will 

meet with case carrier to coordinate all IEP services; (4) Before beginning the Action 

program, Mother will schedule an appointment with program specialist to tour the 

school campus and meet the school staff; (5) The cases carrier will make arrangements 

for Mother and Student to meet with the appropriate school staff, including the 

instructional aide, teacher, school nurse, and the health technician to review Student's 

individual health plan including the use of the nebulizer; (6) Parent will help develop the 

checklist needed for Student's toileting and asthma treatment needs; (7) Program 

specialist will arrange training for Student's new teachers and one-to-one instructional 

assistant in characteristics of learners with autism and strategies to promote learning; 

and (8) The case carrier and program specialist will meet with Mother and one-to-one 

instructional assistant to discuss roles and responsibilities and other concerns. 
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17. On April 26, 2010, the IEP team met again. The IEP team consisted of 

Mother, Student, general education/ home hospital teacher La Salle, program specialist 

Penn, NPA speech and language pathologist Bradshaw, IRC representative Janelle 

McDuffie and administrative designee Jeff Frazier. At this meeting, the IEP team 

discussed the proposed ESY and 2010-2011 placement for Student which had been set 

forth in the April 19, 2010 IEP. The IRC representative discussed possible options for 

Student after her 22nd birthday when she would no longer be eligible for District 

services. The IRC representative discussed sheltered work situations and adaptive living 

skills programs. Two programs that were identified as potentially being appropriate for 

Student were Ability Counts and Exceed. At this meeting, Mother only consented to the 

speech and language services and the speech and language goals.  

18. On May 26, 2010, during a home visit by Penn, Mother consented to the 

ESY portion of the April 19, 2010 IEP. 

19. The home hospital order expired on June 10, 2010, and was not renewed 

by the physician.  

20. On June 14, 2010, Penn left a voice mail message advising Mother that 

District's contract with SenseAbilities would not be renewed after June 30, 2010. Penn 

also advised that Student would be transitioned to a District speech and language 

provider. Penn proposed that there be an overlap between the District speech and 

language therapist and SenseAbilities. On June 15, 2010, Mother returned Penn's call. 

Mother was very upset about the change in speech and language providers. During the 

telephone call, Mother advised Penn that Student would not attend ESY. On June 18, 

2010, Penn met with Mother, Student, the school nurse, Lloyd, and Maria Perez (Perez), 

the District speech and language therapist. Ultimately, Mother withdrew Student from 

ESY before the session began and Student did not attend ESY. 
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21. On August 17, 2010, an IEP team meeting was held with Mother, Student, 

general education teacher La Salle, program specialist Penn, special education teacher 

DeBeaubien, School Nurse Hebard, District Speech and language pathologist Lori Ford, 

OT Linett, Principal Strachan, and autism program specialist Yugo. At the August 17, 

2010 IEP meeting, the team reviewed the offer of placement for the 2010-2011 school 

year, transition plan for return to school, transition plan for exit from District services 

and an individual health plan. Student's home hospital orders expired and had not been 

renewed by the physician. Mother declined to sign an authorization for the physician to 

release information and speak directly to the school nurse. Instead, Mother advised that 

she would provide a physician's statement of Student's health needs and the need for 

continued home/hospital instruction.  

22. At the August 17, 2010 IEP meeting, Mother expressed concerns about 

Student's sensory needs and the use of Therapeutic Listening Program (TLP) to support 

Student's sensory needs. Mother expressed a desire to continue TLP and believed that 

Student had improved her listening skills as a result of TLP. The IEP team agreed to an 

OT assessment of Student focusing on sensory issues. An assessment plan was prepared 

at the IEP meeting and given to Mother along with a copy of the Procedural Safeguards. 

Mother signed and returned the OT assessment plan during the August 17, 2010 IEP 

meeting.  

23. Mother requested that Lloyd make two home visits for two hours, each 

visit with the case carrier, to become familiar with Student. Mother also requested that a 

speech therapist with extensive autism experience be provided to Student. The IEP team 

agreed to meet again before October 15, 2010, to discuss Student's readiness for an 

increase in the length of her school day. On August 17, 2010, Mother consented to the 

IEP except for the speech and language services by a District speech and language 

therapist. 
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24. On August 18, 2010, Mother wrote to Penn expressing her concerns that 

District speech and language therapist Perez was not trained in Applied Behavior 

Analysis (ABA) or discrete trial training (DTT). Mother expressed that she believed Perez 

lacked the necessary familiarity and training with autism to provide any benefit to 

Student. Mother further advised that she did not want Perez to start any speech and 

language therapy with Student or to overlap with the NPA provider during the transition 

period. As a second issue, Mother expressed concern about one-to-one aide Lloyd's 

qualifications and training and suggested that District contract with CARD, an NPA 

behavior provider. Additionally, Mother expressed concern about Student riding the 

school bus and asserted that Student had been molested when riding a bus in a 

different school district. Mother requested an aide to ride the bus with Student. She 

reiterated her request that the District continue to contract with SenseAbilities for 

Student's speech and language therapy. 

25. Mother brought Student to the Action class on August 23, 2010. Student 

attended the Action class for three hours on August 23, 2010. DeBeaubien had setup a 

desk with office equipment and a computer to simulate an office for Student to practice 

office skills. Lloyd and DeBeaubien both opined that Student had a good day at school. 

Lloyd remembered that Student was smiling when she left school that day. Student 

never returned. 

26. On September 1, 2010, another IEP team meeting was held to discuss 

Mother's concerns about speech and language therapy and transportation. In 

attendance were Mother, Student, Principal Strachan, program specialist Penn, autism 

program specialist Yugo, special education teacher DeBeaubien, OT Linett, school nurse 

Hebard, speech and language pathologist Perez and school psychologist Makela. 

Mother continued to be concerned about Perez's qualifications and insisted that District 

contract with SenseAbilties for Student's speech and language therapy. The District IEP 
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team members expressed confidence in Perez, the selected therapist. The IEP team 

discussed Perez's qualifications and the differences between a speech and language 

therapist and ABA behavior therapists.  

27. Perez was a qualified speech and language pathologist with the requisite 

credentials, experience and training to provide speech and language therapy to 

Student.Perez received a bachelor of arts from California Polytechnic University at 

Pomona and a master of arts from Loma Linda University. She has been a licensed 

speech and language pathologist since 1997 and is also a registered nurse. She serves 

as the District speech and language pathologist for high schools and the Action 

program. Her duties include assessment of students, attending IEP meetings and 

providing speech and language therapy to students. Perez has experience with autistic 

students and has received additional training from District autism specialist Yugo. Perez 

was familiar with ABA and DTT and had experience teaching social language skills to 

autistic children.  

28. Mother remained unconvinced of Perez's qualifications to provide speech 

therapy to Student. Mother expressed that she believed the IEP was not being 

implemented and she requested an "emergency IEP meeting" to discuss withdrawing 

consent to the IEP. Mother again requested an aide to ride the bus to and from school 

with Student. District agreed to provide an aide on a temporary basis to gather data on 

Student's ability to ride the bus and need for assistance on the bus.  

29. The IEP team met again on September 16, 2010, to discuss Mother's 

concerns. In attendance were Mother, Student, Principal Strachem, program specialist 

Penn, special education teacher DeBeaubien, OT Linett, school nurse Hebard, speech 

and language pathologist Perez, and school psychologist Makela. At this meeting, 

Mother withdrew her consent to the August 17, 2010 IEP. Mother again expressed her 

desire for Student to continue speech and language therapy with SenseAbilities and her 
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disagreement with District provided speech and language therapy. She also expressed 

concern that Student's sensory needs were not being met. The OT reminded Mother 

that she must make Student available for OT assessment so the IEP team could review 

Student's needs for OT services. Mother declined to provide a date for the OT 

assessment  

30. During the September 16, 2010 IEP meeting, Mother requested that 

Student be provided with a piano and noise reducing headphones, that Mother be a 

part of the staff meetings and trainings, and that specific substitute teaching staff be 

used. The IEP team reviewed the offer of FAPE, the transition plan, and the planning and 

training that had been undertaken to orient all of the staff to Student's needs. Mother 

did not consent to the IEP.   

31. On September 17, 2010, OT Linette left a message for Mother to schedule 

an appointment for the OT assessment on September 23, 2010. On September 20, 2010, 

Mother called Linette and cancelled the appointment. That afternoon, Penn contacted 

Mother to discuss the assessment and ask about Mother's concerns. Mother confirmed 

that she cancelled the assessment and that she would contact the District in the next 

few days with her concerns. Mother again declined to provide a date for the assessment.  

32. On September 27, 2010, District notified Mother in writing that it denied 

her request to be included in staff meetings and training, access to a piano during the 

school day and speech and language therapy provided by SenseAbilities. District also 

notified Mother in writing that the request for noise reducing headphones was denied 

until an OT assessment was completed. 

33. Mother did not dispute the need for an OT assessment, but refused to 

make Student available. District attempted to schedule an IEP meeting on October 8, 

2010, to discuss the still pending OT assessment, but Mother refused to attend on that 

day. Mother advised Penn that she would be available after October 16, 2010.  
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34. On October 13, 2010, District notified Mother by hand delivery of an IEP 

meeting notice for an IEP meeting to be held on October 15, 2010. On October 14, 

2010, Penn followed the hand delivery with an email reminder of the IEP meeting. 

Mother responded that October 15, 2010 was inconvenient and proposed October 21, 

2010. Because the 60-day time line for holding an IEP meeting after an assessment plan 

has been signed would expire on October 15, 2010, District IEP team members held the 

scheduled meeting without Mother.  

35. The IEP team met on October 15, 2010, to discuss the still pending OT 

assessment, but took no action at the meeting. Program specialist Penn, autism 

specialist Yugo, school nurse Hebard, school psychologist Makela, special education 

teacher DeBeaubien, and speech and language pathologist Perez attended the IEP 

meeting. Mother and Student did not participate in the IEP meeting. The IEP team 

documented that the OT assessment had not been completed because Mother had not 

made Student available for assessment.  

36. Mother did not respond to a notice for an IEP meeting scheduled on 

October 26, 2010. District members of the IEP team assembled for the meeting, but 

Mother and Student did not appear for the meeting. The IEP meeting was rescheduled 

to November 1, 2010. On October 27, 2010, District provided Mother with a notice of an 

IEP meeting scheduled for 1:30 p.m. on November 1, 2010. Penn and DeBeaubien each 

tried to reach Mother about her availability for the IEP meeting and left voice mail 

messages for her. On October 28, 2010, Mother acknowledged by email that she had 

received the meeting notice, but would not confirm her attendance at the meeting. On 

the morning of November 1, 2010, DeBeaubien called and spoke to Mother about the 

IEP meeting. Again, Mother would not commit to attending the meeting. She told 

DeBeaubien that she "may or may not" attend the meeting. 
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37. The IEP team met on November 1, 2010, at 1:30 p.m. to discuss the status 

of the OT assessment. In attendance were Principal Strachem, program specialist Penn, 

special education teacher DeBeaubien, OT Linett, school nurse Hebard, speech and 

language pathologist Perez, autism program specialist Yugo and school psychologist 

Makela. The IEP team documented that the OT assessment had not been completed 

because Mother had not made Student available. Therefore, there was no new 

assessment data to discuss. The IEP team reviewed the August 17, 2010 IEP offer of FAPE 

and determined that it continued to be appropriate. The IEP team also reviewed an 

October 28, 2010 email from Mother wherein she expressed concern about the noise 

level in the afternoons in the Action class. The IEP team determined that since Student 

was only scheduled to attend in the mornings, the afternoon noise level would not 

disturb her.  

38. On November 3, 2010, Penn provided Mother a copy of the November 1, 

2010 IEP by email. 

39. Although Mother withdrew her consent to the IEP and expressed 

reservations about Student returning to school, the educational staff continued 

preparations and training, as planned, to support Student if she returned to class. On 

August 19, 2010, school nurse Cynthia Hebard trained nine District staff members on the 

use of nebulizers and individual health plans. On August 24, 2010, Hebard conducted a 

nebulizer and health care plan training specific to Student's needs. On September 13, 

2010 and September 14, 2010, speech and language pathologist Perez, one-to-one aide 

Lloyd, special education teacher DeBeaubien and program specialist Penn received web-

based training on the Vantage Lite. On October 5, 2010, DeBeaubien, Lloyd, school 

psychologist Makela, and autism program specialist Yugo received three and a half 

additional hours of training from a Vantage Lite Company consultant on the use of the 

device. On October 26, 2010, December 1, 2010, January 12, 2011 and February 2, 2011, 

Accessibility modified document



 15 

DeBeaubien, Lloyd, Makela, Yugo, Penn, Linette and Perez, met to collaborate about 

ways to help Student's transition to a school setting and methods for providing 

instruction and support to her. The meetings included the entire team of professionals 

that had been assembled to provide Student's educational program, Yugo, the autism 

program specialist, provided autism focused training and materials to the meeting 

participants.  

40. On April 15, 2011, Mother sent District a letter withdrawing Student from 

District. 

LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

1. As the petitioning party, District has the burden of proof on all issues. 

(Schaffer v. Weast (2005) 546 U.S. 49, 56-62 [126 S.Ct. 528, 163 L.Ed.2d 387].) 

ISSUE ONE – FAPE FOR ESY 2010 AND 2010-2011 SCHOOL YEAR 

2. In Issue One, District contends that the offer of placement and related 

services in its IEPs of April 19, 2010, April 26, 2010, August 17, 2010, September 1, 2010, 

September 16, 2010, and November 1, 2010 offered Student a FAPE for ESY 2010 and 

the 2010-2011 school year. As discussed below, District met its burden of proof.   

3. Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and 

companion state law, students with disabilities have the right to a FAPE. (20 U.S.C. § 

1400; Ed. Code, § 56000.) A FAPE means special education and related services, under 

public supervision and direction that are available to the student at no cost to the 

parents, that meet the state educational standards, and that conform to the student’s 

IEP. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(9); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 3001, subd. (o).) “Related Services” are 

transportation and other developmental, corrective and supportive services as may be 

required to assist the child in benefiting from special education. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(26).) In 

Accessibility modified document



 16 

California, related services are called designated instruction and services (DIS), which 

must be provided if they may be required to assist the child in benefiting from special 

education. (Ed. Code, §56363, subd. (a).) 

4. There are two parts to the legal analysis of a school district's compliance 

with the IDEA. First, the tribunal must determine whether the district has complied with 

the procedures set forth in the IDEA. (Board of Educ. v. Rowley (1982) 458 U.S. 176, 206-

207, [73 L.Ed. 2d 690] (Rowley).) Second, the tribunal must decide whether the IEP 

developed through those procedures was designed to meet the child's unique needs, 

and reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive educational benefit. (Ibid.) 

5. Procedurally, the parents of a child with a disability must be afforded an 

opportunity to participate in meetings with respect to the identification, evaluation, and 

educational placement of the child; and the provision of FAPE to the child. (34 C.F.R. § 

300.501(a) (2006)1; Ed. Code, § 56500.4.) A parent has meaningfully participated in the 

development of an IEP when he or she is informed of the child’s problems, attends the 

IEP meeting, expresses disagreement regarding the IEP team’s conclusions, and requests 

revisions in the IEP. (N.L. v. Knox County Schools (6th Cir. 2003) 315 F.3d 688, 693; 

Fuhrmann v. East Hanover Bd. of Educ. (3d Cir. 1993) 993 F.2d 1031, 1036 [parent who 

has an opportunity to discuss a proposed IEP and whose concerns are considered by the 

IEP team has participated in the IEP process in a meaningful way].) 

1 All subsequent references to the Code of Federal Regulations are to the 2006 

edition. 

6. The IEP team is required to include one or both of the student’s parents or 

their representative, a regular education teacher if a student is, or may be, participating 

in the regular education environment, a special education teacher, a representative of 
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the school district who is qualified to provide or supervise specially designed instruction 

to meet the unique needs of children with disabilities, is knowledgeable about the 

general education curriculum and is knowledgeable about available resources. (34 C.F.R. 

§ 300.321(a).) The IEP team is also required to include an individual who can interpret 

the instructional implications of assessment results, and, at the discretion of the parent 

or school district, include other individuals who have knowledge or special expertise 

regarding the child. (34 C.F.R. § 300.321(a).) Finally, whenever appropriate, the child with 

the disability should be present. (34 C.F.R. § 300.321(a).) 

7. An IEP is a written document for each child with a disability that includes: a 

statement of the child’s present levels of academic achievement and functional 

performance, including how the child’s disability affects the child’s involvement and 

progress in the general education curriculum; and a statement of measurable annual 

goals, including academic and functional goals, designed to meet the child’s needs that 

result from the child’s disability to enable the child to be involved in and make progress 

in the general education curriculum, and meet each of the child’s other educational 

needs that result from the child’s disability. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A); 34 C.F.R. §§ 

300.320.) When appropriate, the IEP should include short-term objectives that are based 

on the child’s present levels of academic achievement and functional performance, a 

description of how the child’s progress toward meeting the annual goals will be 

measured, when periodic reports of the child’s progress will be issued to the parent, and 

a statement of the special education and related services to be provided to the child. (20 

U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A); 34 C.F.R. §§ 300.320.) The IEP must also contain a statement of 

how the child’s goals will be measured. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(iii); Ed. Code, § 56345, 

subd. (a)(3).) An IEP must include a statement of the special education and related 

services, based on peer-reviewed research to the extent practicable, that will be 

provided to the student. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(IV); 34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(4); Ed. 
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Code, § 56345, subd. (a)(4).) The IEP must include a projected start date for services and 

modifications, as well as the anticipated frequency, location, and duration of services 

and modifications. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VII); 34 C.F.R. § 300.320(a)(7); Ed. Code § 

56345, subd. (a)(7).) An IEP must include a post-secondary transition plan during the 

school year in which the child turns 16 years old. (Ed. Code, § 56043, subd. (g)(1).) The 

IEP need only include the information set forth in title 20 United States Code section 

1414(d)(1)(A)(i), and the required information need only be set forth once. (20 U.S.C. § 

1414(d)(1)(A)(ii); 34 C.F.R. § 300.320(d); Ed. Code § 56345, subds. (h) and (i).) 

8. In developing the IEP, the IEP team must consider the strengths of the 

child, the concerns of the parents for enhancing the child’s education, the result of the 

most recent evaluation of the child, and the academic, developmental, and functional 

needs of the child. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(3)(A); 34 C.F.R. §§ 300.324 (a).)  

9. In Rowley, the Supreme Court held that the basic floor of opportunity 

provided by the IDEA consists of access to specialized instruction and related services, 

which are individually designed to provide educational benefit to a child with special 

needs. Rowley expressly rejected an interpretation of the IDEA that would require a 

school district to “maximize the potential” of each special needs child “commensurate 

with the opportunity provided” to typically developing peers. (Rowley, supra, at p. 200.) 

Instead, Rowley interpreted the FAPE requirement of the IDEA as being met when a 

child receives access to an education that is “sufficient to confer some educational 

benefit” upon the child. (Id. at pp. 200, 203-204.) De minimus benefit, or only trivial 

advancement, however, is insufficient to satisfy the Rowley standard of "some" benefit. 

(Walczak v. Florida Union Free School District (2d Cir.) 142 F.3d 119, 130.) A child's 

academic progress must be viewed in light of the limitations imposed by his or her 

disability and must be gauged in relation to the child's potential. (Mrs. B. v. Milford 

Board of Education (2d Cir. 1997) 103 F.3d 1114, 1121.)  
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10. Federal and state laws require school districts to provide a program in the 

least restrictive environment (LRE) to each special education student. (Ed. Code, §§56031; 

56033.5; 34 C.F.R. § 300.114.) A special education student must be educated with non-

disabled peers to the maximum extent appropriate and may be removed from the 

regular education environment only when the use of supplementary aids and services 

cannot be achieved satisfactorily. (20 U.S.C. § 1412 (a)(5)(A); 34 C.F.R. § 300.114(a)(2).) To 

determine whether a special education student could be satisfactorily educated in a 

regular education environment, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has balanced the 

following factors: 1) “the educational benefits of placement full-time in a regular class”; 

2) “the non-academic benefits of such placement”; 3) the effect [the student] had on the 

teacher and children in the regular class”; and 4) “the costs of mainstreaming [the 

student].” (Sacramento City Unified School Dist. v. Rachel H. (9th Cir. 1994) 14 F.3d 1398, 

1404.) 

11.  If it is determined that a child cannot be educated in a general education 

environment, then the LRE analysis requires determining whether the child has been 

mainstreamed to the maximum extent that is appropriate in light of the continuum of 

program options. (Daniel R.R. v. State Board of Ed., supra, 874 F.2d at p. 1050.) The 

continuum of program options includes, but is not limited to: regular education; 

resource specialist programs; designated instruction and services; special classes; 

nonpublic, nonsectarian schools; state special schools; specially designed instruction in 

settings other than classrooms; itinerant instruction in settings other than classrooms; 

and instruction using telecommunication instruction in the home or instructions in 

hospitals or institutions. (Ed. Code, § 56361.) 

12. In resolving the question of whether a school district has offered a FAPE, 

the focus is on the adequacy of the school district’s proposed program. (See Gregory K. 

v. Longview School District, supra 811 F.2d 1307 at p. 1314.) A school district is not 
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required to place a student in a program preferred by a parent, even if that program will 

result in greater educational benefit to the student. (Ibid.) An IEP is evaluated in light of 

information available at the time it was developed; it is not judged in hindsight. (Adams 

v. State of Oregon (9th Cir. 1999) 195 F.3d 1141, 1149.)2 An IEP is “a snapshot, not a 

retrospective.” (Ibid. citing Fuhrmann v. East Hanover Bd. Of Education (3d Cir. 1993) 993 

F.2d 1031, 1041.) It must be evaluated in terms of what was objectively reasonable when 

the IEP was developed. (Id.)  

2 Although Adams involved an Individual Family Services Plan and not an IEP, the 

Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals applied the analysis in Adams to other issues concerning 

an IEP (Christopher S. v. Stanislaus County Off. of Education (9th Cir. 2004) 384 F.3d 

1205, 1212) and district courts within the Ninth Circuit have adopted its analysis of this 

issue for an IEP. (Pitchford v. Salelm-Keizer School Dist. No. 24J (D. Or. 2001) 155 

F.Supp.2d 1213, 1236.) 

13. If the parent or guardian of a child who is an individual with exceptional 

needs refuses all services in the IEP after having consented to those services in the past, 

the local educational agency shall file a request for a due process hearing. (Ed. Code, § 

56346, subd. (d).) 

14. Here, District met its burden of proving by a preponderance of the 

evidence that it complied with the procedural requirements of the IDEA and California 

law in developing Student's April 19, 2010, April 26, 2010, August 17, 2010, September 1, 

2010, September 16, 2010 and November 1, 2010 IEPs. Mother was provided with notice 

and an opportunity to participate in the development of Student's IEPs. Mother 

participated in and assisted with the development of Student's PLOPs, goals, 

educational program, related services and discussion of the continuum of placement 

options. The IEP team, comprised of the necessary participants, developed an IEP which 
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comported with the procedural requirements of the IDEA and California law including a 

statement of PLOPs, goals, education program, services, a transition plan, and which 

delineated Student's level of interaction with non-disabled peers  

15. District also proved by a preponderance of the evidence that it offered 

Student a FAPE at all relevant times. The IEP team evaluated Student's needs for related 

services and developed an appropriate educational placement for her. Given that 

Student had already spent two years in home/hospital instruction, was 21 years old and 

had low cognitive ability, low adaptive skills, and was not on a diploma track, the District 

members of the IEP team recommended that Student be placed in the Action class. The 

Action class offered a functional academic program with like-aged peers that would 

address Student's academic goals. In addition, to assist Student with transitioning to 

adult life, the Action class included instruction in independent living skills, work skills 

and a sheltered employment program that would allow Student an opportunity to 

generalize functional communication and academic skills, develop social relationships, 

vocational skills and be exposed to similar-aged Students. The Action program was also 

preparatory for the programs which would be available to Student through IRC when 

she was no longer eligible for District services at the age of 22. The IEP team also 

offered transportation to and from the Action class.  

16. District’s offer of placement was in the LRE. The District's proposed 

placement offered Student an opportunity to receive a meaningful educational benefit 

tailored to her unique needs in a supportive environment where her IEP can be 

implemented. No member of the IEP team, including Mother, contemplated placement 

in a general education classroom. Student was already 21 years old and required a 

functional curriculum which was not available in the general education classroom. The 

evidence at hearing showed that Student was not able to engage with typically 

developing peers and was isolated because of her inability to communicate. Student's 
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advanced age, intensive medical needs and inability to communicate would be 

disruptive to a general education class. Additionally, general education classes would 

not contain same aged peers because Student was already an adult. No evidence 

regarding the cost, if any, of full time placement in a general education classroom or 

mainstreaming was presented; however, this factor has little weight given that neither 

Mother nor District contemplated such a placement. Based on the above, District 

demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that a full-time general education 

placement was not appropriate for Student. Because a full-time general education 

placement is not appropriate for Student, the focus must be on the continuum of 

placement options and the degree of mainstreaming, if any, that is appropriate for 

Student. 

17. In evaluating those options, including home instruction and the Action 

class, the team considered the restrictiveness of the placements and the suitability of 

each placement to implement Student's IEP and the non-academic benefits of the 

placement. The Action class offered Student the opportunity to have social interactions 

with similar aged peers and to generalize her functional academic and communication 

skills, gain vocational skills and potentially participate in simulated and sheltered 

employment. The placement offered would foster the independence, development and 

generalization of skills contemplated by the goals developed for the April 19, 2010, April 

26, 2010, August 17, 2010, September 1, 2010, September 16, 2010 and November 1, 

2010 IEPs and is in the least restrictive environment. 

18. District's offer of related services was also appropriate. District offered 

direct speech and language service with a District speech and language pathologist to 

develop Student's communication abilities and offered training to Student and her 

teacher on the Vantage Lite. Mother did not dispute the appropriateness of the speech 

and language goals or the duration and frequency of service. Mother consented to 
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speech and language therapy and goals, until the provider was changed. Mother 

insisted that District's speech and language pathologist was not qualified to provide 

therapy and that SenseAbilities, the NPA, must provide the therapy in order for Student 

to receive a FAPE. The preponderance of the evidence shows that District's offer 

provided for adequate and appropriate speech and language therapy by an experienced 

and qualified District speech and language pathologist.  

19. With regard to OT services, Mother refused to make Student available for 

OT assessment. Accordingly, District had no updated information upon which to offer 

additional OT services or supports for the change from a home environment to a school 

environment because of Mother's refusal to make Student available.  

20. District also offered career awareness services, travel training, job coaching 

and agency coordination with the regional center. These services were appropriate for 

Student as she was an adult close to the time of transition from District services to 

regional center services. The career awareness services, travel training, job coaching and 

agency coordination were appropriate to prepare her for that transition. 

21. In sum, the District's offer of placement and services for ESY 2010 and the 

2010-2011 school year constitutes a FAPE and provides Student with a meaningful 

educational benefit in the least restrictive environment. (Factual Findings 1-40 and Legal 

Conclusions 1-21.) 

ISSUE TWO – OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY ASSESSMENT 

22. In Issue Two, District contends that Mother should be required to make 

Student available for the occupational therapy assessment to which Mother has already 

consented. District met its burden of proof on this issue as well. 

23. The IDEA provides for periodic reevaluations to be conducted not more 

frequently than once a year unless the parents and district agree otherwise, but at least 
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once every three years unless the parent and district agree that a reevaluation is not 

necessary. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(a)(2)(B); Ed. Code, § 56381, subd. (a)(2).) A reassessment may 

also be performed if warranted by the child’s educational or related services needs. (20 

U.S.C. § 1414(a)(2)(A)(i); Ed. Code, § 56381, subd. (a)(1).)  

24.  Reassessment plans must be based on a review of existing assessment 

data on the student, including current observations by teachers and related service 

providers. (Ed. Code, § 56381, subd. (b)(1).) Based on a review of current data, a school 

district must determine what additional data is required to determine: 1) whether the 

student is still eligible for special education; 2) the present levels of performance and 

educational needs of the student; 3) whether any additions or modifications to the 

student’s IEP are needed to enable the student to meet his or her annual goals and 

participate as appropriate in the general curriculum. (Ed. Code, § 56381, subd. (b)(2).) 

25. Reassessments require parental consent. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(c)(3); Ed. Code, § 

56381, subd. (f)(1)). To obtain parental consent for a reassessment, the school district 

must provide proper notice to the student and his/her parents. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(b)(1); 

20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3) & (c)(1); Ed. Code, §§ 56321, subd. (a), 56381, subd. (a).) The notice 

consists of the proposed assessment plan and a copy of parental procedural rights 

under the IDEA and companion state law. (20 U.S.C. §§ 1414(b)(1), 1415(c)(1); Ed. Code, § 

56321, subd. (a).) The assessment plan must: be in a language easily understood by the 

public and the native language of the student; explain the assessments that the district 

proposes to conduct; and provide that the district will not implement an individualized 

education program without the consent of the parent. (Ed. Code, § 56321, subd. (b)(1)-

(4).) The district must give the parents 15 days to review, sign, and return the proposed 

assessment plan. (Ed. Code, § 56321, subd. (a).)  

26. Assessments shall be conducted by persons competent to perform the 

assessment, as determined by the local educational agency. (Ed. Code, § 56322.)  
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27. If the parents do not consent to a reassessment plan, the district may 

conduct the reassessment by showing at a due process hearing that it needs to reassess 

the student and it is lawfully entitled to do so. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(c)(3); 34 C.F.R. § 

300.300(c)(ii); Ed. Code, §§ 56381, subd. (f)(3), 56501, subd. (a)(3).) Parents who want 

their children to receive special education services must allow reassessment by the 

district. (Gregory K. v. Longview Sch. Dist. (9th Cir. 1987) 811 F.2d 1307, 1315.) 

28. Here, the OT assessment was both procedurally appropriate and 

substantively required. District provided Mother with the appropriate notice of the OT 

assessment and a copy of the Procedural Safeguards. Mother signed the OT assessment 

plan on August 17, 2010. District intended to have OT Linett, a licensed OT with 26 years 

of experience conduct the assessment. Linett was familiar with Student from having 

conducted her triennial assessment and from participating in Student's IEP meetings. 

Mother did not dispute the need for the OT assessment or Linett's qualifications to 

perform the assessment. Instead, Mother simply refused to produce Student for 

assessment without further explanation and then purported to withdraw her from the 

District. Considering that Student’s OT needs could have changed upon a transition 

from a home hospital program to attendance in the Action program, and Mother 

believed that Student had sensory needs, an OT assessment was appropriate. District 

has met its burden of establishing that it followed the procedural requirements related 

to the assessment and provided a qualified person to conduct the assessment. Mother 

must produce Student for the OT assessment if Student wishes to avail herself of 

District-funded OT services. (Findings of Fact 1-40 and Legal Conclusions 22-28.) 

ORDER 

1. District’s offer of placement in the Action class with related services, goals, 

transition plan and individual health plan contained in April 19, 2010, April 26, 2010, the 

August 17, 2010, September 1, 2010 IEP, September 16, 2010 and November 1, 2010 

Accessibility modified document



 26 

Individual Education Programs offered Student a free appropriate public education in 

the least restrictive environment for ESY 2010 and the 2010-2011 school year.  

2. Mother must make Student available for District's occupational therapy 

assessment pursuant to the August 17, 2010 assessment plan within ten (10) calendar 

days of this decision if she desires to avail herself of District occupational therapy 

services. 

PREVAILING PARTY 

Pursuant to California Education Code section 56507, subdivision (d), the hearing 

decision must indicate the extent to which each party has prevailed on each issue heard 

and decided. District prevailed on all issues.  

RIGHT TO APPEAL THIS DECISION 

The parties to this case have the right to appeal this Decision to a court of 

competent jurisdiction. If an appeal is made, it must be made within ninety days of 

receipt of this decision. (Ed. Code § 56505, subd. (k).) 
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DATED: May 19, 2011  

 
_______________________________________ 
GLYNDA B. GOMEZ  

Administrative Law Judge 

Office of Administrative Hearings 
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